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)
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)
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)

MATHEW D. PAYNE,
)




)
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)

DECISION
There is cause to discipline Mathew D. Payne because either while on active duty or while acting under color of law he required female prisoners to disrobe without lawful reason.
Procedure

On February 9, 2009, the Director of the Department of Public Safety (“Director”) filed a complaint to establish cause to discipline Payne as a licensed peace officer.  On February 17, 2009, we served our notice of complaint/notice of hearing and a copy of the complaint on Payne by certified mail.  On March 9, 2009, Payne filed an answer to the complaint.  We held a hearing on August 11, 2009.  Assistant Attorney General Christopher R. Fehr represented the Director.  Neither Payne nor any one representing him appeared.  The last brief was due on August 31, 2009.  
Findings of Fact

1.
Payne holds a peace officer license from the Director, which was current and active during the events described below.
2.
While working as a law enforcement officer for the Liberty Police Department on June 28, 2008, Payne twice required Shauna Sloan, a female prisoner, to remove her clothing and appear in front of him only in her panties.
3.
Before June 28, 2008, Payne had engaged in three other similar incidents with other female prisoners.

Conclusions of Law


We have jurisdiction to hear the Director’s complaint.
  The Director has the burden of proving facts for which the law allows discipline.


In the complaint, the Director alleges:

6.  On or about June 28, 2008 at the Liberty Police Department, Respondent required Shauna Sloan to remove her clothing and appear in front of him only in her panties twice in violation of department policy.

7.  While interviewed by the Department, Respondent admitted to the above violation and disclosed three other similar incidents with other female prisoners.

8.  Respondent's conduct as set forth in paragraphs 6 and 7 violates § 590.080.1(3) RSMo.

10. [sic]  The license of respondent [sic] should be disciplined based on his violation of § 590.080.1(3) RSMo.

Section 590.080.1(3) authorizes discipline for any licensee who:
[h]as committed any act while on active duty or under color of law that involves moral turpitude or a reckless disregard for the safety of the public or any person[.]

The only evidence that the Director offered at the hearing to prove that Payne committed the alleged conduct was Payne’s answer to the complaint, which consists entirely of the statement “I Mathew Payne Admit to the findings of the complaint.”  Payne's answer is an admission to the allegations in paragraphs 6 and 7 of the complaint.
[A]n allegation of fact in an answer upon which the case is being tried is binding on the pleader and for the purpose of the trial such party is precluded from maintaining a contrary or inconsistent position. . . .  The rule is stated in 4 Wigmore on Evidence, 3d. Ed., § 1064, pp. 45-46, as follows:

“The pleadings in a cause are, for the purposes of use in that suit, not mere ordinary admissions ( ante § 1057), but judicial admissions ( post, § 2588); i. e. they are not a means of evidence, but a waiver of all controversy (so far as the opponent may desire to take advantage of them) and therefore a limitation of the issues. Neither party may dispute beyond these limits.  Thus, any reference that may be made to them, where the one party desires to avail himself of the other's pleading, is not a process of using evidence, but an invocation of the right to confine the issues and to insist on treating as established the facts admitted in the pleadings.
“This much being generally conceded, it follows that a party may at any and all times invoke the language of his opponent's pleading on that particular issue as rendering certain facts indisputable[.
]

The issue is whether the allegations in paragraphs 6 and 7 are sufficient to establish the elements of the cause for discipline set forth in § 590.080.1(3).  The allegations in those paragraphs are skeletal, but we can make fair inferences from those allegations.  Thus, we have found facts that include Payne's employment at the Liberty Police Department as a law enforcement officer because he admitted that his conduct violated police department polices.  Those policies would not govern his conduct if he were not employed with the police department.  Also, we infer that Shauna Sloan was a female prisoner from the use of the phrase 
“other female prisoners” in paragraph 7, with “other” being used in the sense of additional items of the same classification as the first one mentioned.
  

Although we have no evidence of what the departmental policies were that Payne violated, § 590.080.1(3) does not require proof of their specific terms, only proof that the conduct occurred while Payne was on active duty or under color of law and that the conduct involved moral turpitude.  As to what constitutes “color of law,” we find instructive judicial definitions of that term used in 42 U.S.C. § 1983.
“The traditional definition of acting under color of state law requires that the defendant in a § 1983 action have exercised power ‘possessed by virtue of state law and made possible only because the wrongdoer is clothed with the authority of state law.’” . . .  At the same time, however, the Supreme Court has made clear that even the “[m]isuse of power” possessed by virtue of state law is action taken “under color of state law.” . . .  Thus, “under ‘color’ of law” means “under ‘pretense’ of law,” and “[a]cts of officers who undertake to perform their official duties are included whether they hew to the line of their authority or overstep it.”[
]

Payne admits that he “required” Shauna Sloan to remove her clothes and admits that it was a violation of the police department’s policies.  Admitting that he violated departmental policies is an admission that those policies governed his conduct, which they would do only if he were on active duty or acting under color of law.  Therefore, we conclude that Payne was on active duty or acting under color of law when requiring Sloan to disrobe.  We make the same conclusions as to the other three female prisoners because Payne admits that the incidents were similar.

Moral turpitude is:

an act of baseness, vileness, or depravity in the private and social duties which a man owes to his fellowman or to society in general, contrary to the accepted and customary rule of right and duty 
between man and man; everything “done contrary to justice, honesty, modesty, and good morals.”[
]
It is a mark of common decency to accord another person privacy concerning his or her body especially when the two are of opposite sex and especially regarding parts of the body associated with sexual intimacy.  Depriving someone of that privacy without any lawful reason always falls within the definition of moral turpitude.  Payne violated these canons of common decency and, therefore, his conduct involves moral turpitude.

There is cause to discipline Payne under § 590.080.1(3).


SO ORDERED on October 13, 2009.


________________________________



JOSEPH P. BINDBEUTEL 


Commissioner
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